
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
TO:           Mayor and Council 
 
FROM:     City Attorney 
 
SUBJECT:  Memorandum in Response to Media Report re: March 7, 2023 City Council 
Introduction of Ordinance and Accompanying Resolutions Updating Alcoholic Beverage 
Regulations 
 
DATE:        March 28, 2023 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The purpose of this memorandum is to review the process by which the City Council on 
March 7, 2023, considered and acted on a staff recommendation to introduce an ordinance 
and accompanying resolutions updating the City's alcoholic beverage regulations. The staff 
recommendations were approved unanimously. Subsequent to the March 7 meeting, a 
media report characterized the Council’s actions as, a) violative of the Brown Act, b) unduly 
influenced by special interests, and c) inconsistent with the Council’s procedural rules. 
These allegations are uninformed and unsupportable. We have reviewed the meeting 
carefully and in its entirety. To clarify the record and as explained hereinafter, the Council’s 
actions on March 7 were transparent, consistent with the Brown Act and the concepts of 
due process, and followed the procedural framework set out in the Council handbook. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
On March 7, 2023, the Council conducted a noticed public hearing to consider a staff report 
with recommendations to introduce an ordinance and accompanying resolutions updating 
the City's alcoholic beverage regulations. The staff report can be found here (CITY OF 

HAYWARD - File #: PH 23-013 (legistar.com)). The staff report essentially recommended 
changing the ‘happy hour’ from 4 to 9 p.m., to 3 to 8 p.m., and reducing the ratio of food to 
alcohol gross receipts from 60/40 percent to 50/50 percent, the latter to align with 
regulations of the state's Alcoholic Beverages Control department. The staff report 
indicated the recommendations had been reviewed by the Council's Economic 
Development Committee and Planning Commission after extensive public outreach. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
The public hearing was called to order at approximately 7:20 p.m. At 7:28 p.m., the Mayor 
and Council email account received an email from Jorge Espinosa who identified himself as 
the owner of a restaurant and member of the chamber of commerce (Attachment A). At 

https://hayward.legistar.com/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=6050568&GUID=9C6E57B1-0937-4560-BD41-5D1B007B5745&Options=&Search=
https://hayward.legistar.com/LegislationDetail.aspx?ID=6050568&GUID=9C6E57B1-0937-4560-BD41-5D1B007B5745&Options=&Search=


Memorandum in Response to Media Report re: March 7, 2023 City Council Introduction of Ordinance of Accompanying Resolutions Updating 
Alcoholic Beverage Regulations 

March 27, 2017 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 

7:32 p.m., Espinosa sent the same email to the Mayor and Council account but from a 
different email address (Attachment B). The Mayor and Council email account includes all 
members of the Council and several staff members. All members of the Council have 
confirmed to the City Attorney that they received the emails at 7:28 p.m., or 7:32 p.m., 
which the City Clerk published to the City's website as documents received after 
publication of the agenda. Espinosa asked the Council to delay action and consider further 
study of possible changes to the regulations. City staff members have also confirmed 
receipt of the Espinosa emails at 7:28 p.m., or 7:32 p.m. 
 
There were no further written or electronic communications from Espinosa or anyone else 
after 7:32 p.m. In the Council Chamber, two members of the public testified on the matter 
and engaged with the Council during public discussion. No members of the public called in 
via the Zoom platform to testify during the hearing. In short, the hearing was properly 
noticed and anyone interested in the matter had the opportunity to participate. There were 
no 'e-comments' submitted after the agenda was published. The hearing met all the 
requirements of 'due process,' which means it was fundamentally fair based on federal and 
state constitutional principles. 
 
The public hearing was closed at approximately 8:10 p.m. After discussion among the 
members, Council Member Zermeno moved to support the staff recommendation. Council 
Member Syrop seconded Zermeno's motion but offered a 'friendly amendment' to 
eliminate altogether the 60/40 ratio. Council Member Zermeno initially accepted the 
proposed amendment. 
 
Of significance, the staff recommendation included reduction of the ratio to 50/50 percent 
to align with current economic development models, but it did not include elimination of 
the ratio altogether. In fact, during the Council's discussion there was concern that 
elimination of the ratio would result in establishments that predominantly sold alcohol 
with limited or no food options. Staff pointed out that ABC regulations would still require a 
50/50 ratio, thus precluding elimination of the ratio altogether. Staff also pointed out that 
conditional use permits might also restrict alcohol sales. 
 
During the discussion, Council Member Roche suggesting separating the 'friendly 
amendment' and voting on it as a stand-alone motion, distinct from Council Member 
Zermeno's main motion. 
 
in summary, what is clear is that the 'friendly amendment' was in fact a procedurally 
improper 'substitute motion.' A substitute motion, under Robert's Rule, is separate and 
distinct from a pending main motion and raises substantive new issues, although it does 
take precedence over the main motion. The Council's Handbook, however, prohibits 
substitute motions (see page 42 of the Handbook, Attachment C). Elimination of the ratio 
altogether was inconsistent with the main motion, and it was not a 'friendly amendment.' 
 
Council Member Zermeno recognized the procedural irregularity and rejected the 'friendly 
amendment,' leaving only the main motion on the floor. Mayor Salinas sought a new second 
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to the main motion. Council Member Goldstein offered to second the main motion. 
 
During the Council's lengthy discussion, Council Member Marquez referred to a message on 
her phone as related to the hearing. In fact, Council Member Marquez was referring to the 
Espinosa message(s) that all members had previously received. Council Member Marquez 
noted the Espinosa message asked for the matter to be continued for further consideration, 
which she indicated she would not support.  
 
All members of the Council have confirmed that their only discussions about the subject of 
the hearing occurred during the meeting itself and on the record. There were no secret or 
private communications among them during the meeting, nor were there any secret or 
private communications with members of the public. Consequently, there were no Brown 
Act violations as alleged in the media report. 
 
With only Council Member Zermeno's main motion on the floor, seconded by Council 
Member Goldstein, Mayor Salinas called the question, which was approved unanimously. 
The hearing concluded at approximately 8:50 p.m. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
A careful review of the March 7 hearing leads to a conclusion that it was fully transparent, 
in no way violative of the Brown Act, and procedurally the Council got it right -- that is, the 
'friendly amendment' was in fact a substitute motion not allowed by the Council Handbook. 
The Council was not influenced by ‘special interests’ with some sort of ‘insider’ access. To 
the contrary, the request to continue the item was rejected by the Council. The media 
account also attempted to link the Council's March 7 meeting to alleged Brown Act 
improprieties related to the Alameda County Board of Supervisors. There is no link or 
connection between the Council's actions and whatever Brown Act issues the board may 
have dealt with.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
City Attorney 
 
Attachments A (Espinosa email at 7:28 p.m.) 
                         B (Espinosa email at 7:32 p.m.) 
                         C (Council Handbook, page 42) 
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